**Bachelor Thesis** 

# Refugee Policies in the European Union: Why do asylum recognition rates vary across Member States?

A case study of Bulgaria and Hungary

Friederike Gómez de Larrain

Bachelor Public Administration (Special Emphasis: European Studies)

University of Twente, Enschede

Westphalian Wilhelms-University Münster

Academic Year 2015/2016

First examiner: Dr. Ringo Ossewaarde (UT) Second examiner: Dr. Hendrik Meyer (WWU)

Date of submission: 23/3/16

## **DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC INTEGRITY**

I hereby confirm that the present assignment is solely my own work and that if any text passages or diagrams from books, papers, the Web or other sources have been copied or in any other way used, all references – including those found in electronic media – have been acknowledged and fully cited.

Friederike Gómez de Larrain Hamburg, 23.03.2016

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 | Inti | roduction1   |
|---|------|--|
|   | 1.1  | Research question  |
|   | 1.2  | Relevance of the research question1                                |
|   | 1.3  | Approach2  |
|   | 1.3  | .1 State of research   |
|   | 1.3  | .2 Structure of the thesis   |
| 2 | The  | eory   |
| 3 | Me   | thods  |
|   | 3.1  | Case selection   |
|   | 3.2  | Method of data collection 11                                       |
|   | 3.3  | Method of data analysis  |
| 4 | An   | alysis15   |
|   | 4.1  | Conditions in origin countries15                                   |
|   | 4.2  | Characteristics of the asylum population                           |
|   | 4.3  | Destination countries' asylum burden19                             |
|   | 4.4  | Social, political and economic conditions in destination countries |
|   | 4.5  | Legal and administrative considerations                            |
|   | 4.6  | Summary  |
| 5 | Co   | nclusion25   |
| 6 | Bib  | bliography   |
| 7 | Ap   | pendices   |

"From a normative viewpoint, asylum claims should be assessed purely with regards to the merits of the claim." (Neumayer 2005: 43)

## **1.1 Research question**

These days we are facing the heaviest humanitarian catastrophe since the end of World War II (UNHCR 2015a: 5). The United Nations Refugee Agency (UNHCR) annual Global Trends Report released that by the end of 2014 almost 60 million people worldwide were forcibly displaced as a result of persecution, conflict, human rights violations or generalized violence (ibid: 2). One might expect little variation in recognition rates across the European Union (Noll 2000: 233) as all member states are parties to the Geneva Convention (UNHCR 2015b: 2 ff.), the European Convention on Human Rights (Council of Europe 2016), and the United Nations Convention against Torture (United Nations 2015: 1 ff.); therefore they "are subject to the same formal obligations with respect to the treatment of asylum claims" (Neumayer 2005: 57). In reality, however, substantial differences in the interpretation by the single countries of their formal obligations can be observed (ibid). The two extreme cases are the recognition rates of Bulgaria and Hungary, which are both poor Eastern European countries (Eurostat 2016a). But with regard to the current refugee crisis there seem to be tremendous differences in their policies. While in 2014 in Bulgaria the rate of recognition of asylum applicants was at 94% of all first instance decisions, only 9% of first instance decisions resulted in positive outcome for applicants in Hungary (Eurostat 2015a: 4). Existing studies on the topic have not been able to provide an applicable explanation to the phenomenon. Therefore, in the course of my Bachelor thesis I want to examine the cases of these two samples to find out what are the reasons behind the great variance across EU member states' recognition rates?

## **1.2** Relevance of the research question

If the 59.5 million displaced persons in 2014 were a nation, they would make up the 24<sup>th</sup> largest in the world (UNHCR 2015a: 2). But while the topic continues to "make the headlines in the European press and the numbers of persons [seeking asylum in Europe] reach unprecedented levels, a true European response is lacking" (AIDA 2014: 8). The majority of the asylum seekers in Europe are taken by the same few countries (primarily Germany, Sweden, France and Italy) (Eurostat 2015a: 1). Less popular asylum destination countries resist against more general harmonization and burden-sharing efforts (Neumayer 2004: 156).

The question why there is such an immense variance across member states' asylum recognition rates is mainly relevant for two reasons. Firstly, the EU is an institution that is based on the idea of mutual benefits and shared responsibilities (IDEA 2009: 36). Hence, it appears unacceptable that some member states reject to bear the burdens of this crisis. Secondly, very unequal recognition rates represent a frontal assault on the ethical standards of fairness and nondiscrimination (Neumayer 2005: 44). Since the Dublin Convention obligates asylum seekers in the EU to lodge their asylum claim in the country of first entry, restrictions on choosing the preferred asylum destination country subject applicants whose claims are equally merited to the danger of unequal treatment contingent on where they file their application (ibid). Especially, when people had fled from genuine persecution in their origin country, rejecting their claim and forcing them to return, may draw additional attention to them and increase the risk of being imprisoned, tortured or killed (ibid: 48). Such discriminatory treatment violates the spirit, if not the letter, of the Geneva Convention relating the Status of Refugees from 1951. The restrictions on the choice of asylum destination country introduced in the Dublin Convention can only be justified if asylum seekers can broadly expect equal and fair treatment (ibid: 63). Historical refugee data suggest that in 2014 the year-to-year net increase in the number of refugees is almost unprecedented in the United Nations Refugee Agency's existence (UNHCR 2015: 9). In the face of the civil war in Syria, the Islamic State's terror in the Middle East, and the various conflicts and poor economies in Africa, this is not likely to change soon (Kirişci 2015). Therefore the question of varying asylum recognition rates has to be approached urgently.

## 1.3 Approach

#### 1.3.1 State of research

The state of research on asylum recognition rates mainly consists of six works. Holzer, Schneider and Widmer (2000a) analyzed the handling of asylum applications in different Swiss cantons from 1988-1996. Holzer and Schneider (2002) focused on the determinants of asylum recognition rates from 1983-1995 for Western European, EU, and fifteen OECD countries. Vink and Meijerink (2003) examined the effect of the amount of asylum applications on recognition rates in 15 European states from 1982-1995. Neumayer (2005) also focused on the determinants of recognition rates in Western Europe from 1980-1999. Kate (2005) analyzed the determinants of recognition rates in 17 sample countries around the globe in 2002. Mori (2005) investigated the impact of three variables on the 2003 worldwide recognition rates by a sample of 145 countries. As the theory section will reveal, there is hardly any agreement among these authors and not all important aspects are taken into consideration. Besides, their results are not applicable to today for a number of reasons.

The first of these studies only focused on a single country, the following three on Western Europe. Their results cannot strictly be taken as representative for all European countries, especially since we see that recognition rates in 2014 varied strongest from one Eastern European country to another. Furthermore, all four of these studies investigated a time period from 14-36 years ago. Many factors which eventually had an influence on the current refugee situation and asylum policies in the destination countries arose after these periods of time. E.g. the attack of the World Trade Center in 2001 and following Islamic extremists' attacks have caused fear of Islamic terrorism and created a mistrustful attitude towards Islam (Adamson 2006: 165). Some scholars even note explicitly that "transnational terrorism has culminated in policy securitization with expansive restrictions on migration" (Avdan 2014: 445). As most of today's asylum seekers come from countries with a majority of Muslim population (Eurostat 2015a: 1; ARDA 2015), this plays an important role. Later on, in 2008, Europe was hit by the Global Financial Crisis which led to vast politics of austerity (Cáslavka/Henn 2012: 5). Many European countries have still not fully recovered from the crisis (ibid.); hence, this, too, is likely to have had an impact on countries' willingness to welcome foreigners (Zetter 2009: 2). Another, if not the, incident that shaped the face of the current refugee situation has been the 'Arab Spring' which began in 2011 (Kingsley 2015); again, mainly Muslims are today fleeing its consequences. All of these events have obviously not been considered in the first three studies. Mori's und Kate's investigations are carried out in the scenario after 9/11 but do not account for the mentioned incidents that determined the circumstances afterwards. Furthermore, both their studies' results are shaped by conditions in non-European countries, which may not be representative for the EU's member states. So, in summary, the state of research, firstly, does not offer one consistent result and, secondly, is based on very old studies that were carried out in a considerably different scenario than the current crisis and examined other countries than those object to this study. Thus, to understand today's asylum policies, and the varying recognition rates, in the EU, an investigation of the current scenario is necessary.

#### **1.3.2** Structure of the thesis

The aim of the thesis is, thus, to draw up hypotheses about the determinants of asylum recognition rates, as a way to develop an explanation for the observed variance of recognition rates across EU member states by analyzing the examples of Bulgaria and Hungary. Therefore, in the theoretical part the results of the existing studies will be discussed and on their basis the analytical framework of the thesis will be developed. The following section will explain the methodology; the choice of the research design, time period and the method of data collection. Afterwards, the comparative analysis will be carried out according to the framework elaborated in the theory part. It will be concluded, that the conditions in the applicants' countries of origin have a certain impact on origin-specific recognition rates,

especially warfare in the origin country leads to higher chances of recognition. Though, recognition rates are shaped, too, by factors that lie outside the merit of their claim but within the conditions in destination countries; population density, financial contributions to the United Nations Refugee Agency, a high number of accepted Dublin-take-back requests and, especially, the number of applications the destination is receiving and the success of far-right parties and their governments' ideology are negatively related to recognition rates. Finally, a short reflection on the results will follow, fields of further research will be pointed out and the practical implications of the answer found will be discussed.

## 2 THEORY

In this section the state of the art will be examined in detail. It will be elaborated what has been found in the existing studies on determinants of asylum recognition rates and pointed out where there is agreement or disagreement between the scholars. Their arguments will be discussed and it will be examined whether they shall be regarded in this investigation. Furthermore, this discussion will be complemented by aspects mentioned by other scholars, who did not necessarily target the exact research question of this study, but whose arguments will help to evaluate the main authors' findings with regard to the purpose of this study. On this basis, a theoretical framework will be elaborated that will guide the analysis, which factors are to be analyzed and how they may be categorized.

Since, according to Holzer, Schneider and Widmer (2000a: 269), the preconceptions about certain origin countries influence the chance of recognition, Neumayer (2005: 50) and Kate (2005: 3) analyze how origin-specific recognition rates vary according to the conditions in the applicants' countries of origin. Neumayer (2005: 59) finds the gross domestic product per capita in origin countries not to be significant for the variation across origin-specific recognition rates. However, Kate (2005: 12) does find a negative relationship between GDP p.c. in origin countries and recognition. As there is no uniform opinion among authors about the impact of this factor, the GDP p.c. in origin countries shall be considered as a potential determinant in the analysis. Furthermore, the life expectancy in the countries of origin reflects aspects of poverty, war and poor government services such as education and health care, and inequitable resource distribution, whereas the number of refugees generated by the country accounts for other origin-specific conditions that cause flight (ibid: 10). Both aspects are found to be related to recognition (ibid: 11 f.).

There is accordance among scholars that human rights violations and few or nonexistent political and civil rights are positively associated with origin-specific recognition rates (Kate 2005: 11; Neumayer 2005: 43). Though, Kate (ibid) finds the positive correlation between poor political rights and recognition in Europe to be weaker than the positive correlation with few civil rights, for which they will be investigated separately. Neumayer (2005: 64) says that state failure and domestic war are insignificant to recognition rates. However, this result might originate from the fact that he measures both factors as one composite variable. Studying them separately, both turn out significant (Kate 2005: 11 f.). Furthermore, ethnic war (violent conflict between minorities (national, ethnic, religious or other) in an attempt to improve their status) is more strongly related to origin-specific recognition rates than revolutionary war (violent conflict between political challengers and the government) (ibid: 11), for which they shall be analyzed separately in this study, too. Though Kate (2005: 12) does not find interstate war and genocide/politicide ("when the authorities [...] exterminate members of a target group in response to a perceived threat to their rule or interests" (ibid: 10)) to be significant factors, according to Neumayer (2005: 43), they both are positively related to origin-specific recognition rates.

Holzer et al. (2000a: 260) consider demographic aspects of the asylum population, too, for they argue that the typical refugee is a young, single, male. As a consequence, they find female married asylum seekers have higher chances of recognition (2000a: 268 f.). Age is related to recognition, too, though, in a negative way (ibid). Kate (2005: 12), however, says that none of these factors are important for recognition. Some authors additionally point out that host states discriminate on the basis of medical conditions, literacy aptitude, mental competence and education, in order to allow those into their country who will be a benefit for the labour market or at least are likely to become self-reliant and not be a burden to the state (LeMay 2004: 1; Butterwegge 2009: 78; Kavuro 2013).

Regarding destination countries' burden, it is argued that states become more restrictive when the number of applications is high (Vink/Meijerink 2003: 309 ff.) and has been high in past years, too (Kate 2005: 16) – though, according to Neumayer (2005: 59), past applications are insignificant. Vink and Meijerink (2003: 304) point out that the number of applications per capita gives a more realistic image of the share taken by each country (its relative asylum burden). However, neither Neumayer nor Kate take into consideration that, in fact, except for the administrative costs, it is actually rather the number of past asylum seekers *recognized* p.c. than the number of received applications that reflect the asylum burden: in case of rejection, the latter have only caused short-term administrative costs for the destination country, whereas those who have been granted protection in the past have cost far more. With regard to the past recognition rates, in turn, two contrary relationships are imaginable: high past recognition rates could be seen as reflectors of a country's tradition in asylum policy and the country could follow its previous trend (there is some support for this argument among Kate's findings (2005: 25)), or the perception could emanate that the burden shouldered is already too high.

Since asylum seekers tend to go to countries where chances of recognition are higher (Vink/Meijerink 2003: 297; Toshkov 2013: 3), several authors claim, governments use their influence on the assessment of asylum claims to deter potential future asylum seekers via low recognition rates (Hassan 2000: 184; Holzer/Schneider 2002: 38; Neumayer 2005: 48; Kate 2005: 16). Though not all refugees are well informed about each country's asylum policy and decide where to apply according to it (Thielemann 2004: 7), the deterrent effect of low recognition rates has been proven by empirical studies (Neumayer 2005: 49). Subsequently, it is argued, destination countries will follow each other in implementing restrictive policies, aligning their asylum recognition rates closely to that of their neighbours (Brücker/Schröder 2011: 315; Kate 2005: 17).

Holzer et al. (2000a: 252) find that recognition rates are higher in small and large Swiss cantons than in medium sized ones. While this result leaves it unclear which effect national population size has, other authors argue that countries with a larger population can host larger numbers of entrants with little backslash (Gibney 1999: 177; Vink/Meijerink 2003: 304). An alternative criterion to measure a country's capacity to shoulder the asylum burden is its population density (Vink/Meijerink 2003: 304). Though Mori's study results indicate no significant relationship between population density and recognition (Mori 2005: 22), her former argument, that a state with a low population density should be more likely to accept a higher refugee inflow, whereas in those states with less spatial room policy makers will enact try to prevent overcrowding (ibid: 13 ff.), still seems considerable for this study.

In Swiss cantons a high proportion of foreigners had a negative impact on recognition rates (Holzer et al. 2000a: 268). In Kate's (2005: 22) study neither the actual size of the foreign population, not their share of foreigners among the country's total population is found to have an impact on recognition rates. As there remains uncertainty about this criterion, it shall be considered in my research. However, some countries that have been built upon the foundation of immigrants (e.g. the USA) may be less likely to react negatively to a high proportion of foreigners in their country (Gibney 1999: 176) than those countries which have in a short time suddenly received a high number of foreigners (Kate 2005: 18). Furthermore, measuring just the share of foreigners residing in a country leaves aside aspects of cultural identity (Gibney 1999: 176; Boswell 2000: 544; Boswell 2003: 623 f.; Müller 2010: 46). According to Soroka et al. (2003; as cited in Kate 2005: 18), foreigners from a distinct cultural heritage are more likely to "erode a society's sense of social solidarity". Kate (2005: 20 ff.) does not find this relationship between the percentage of the 'culturally distinct'<sup>1</sup> foreign population and recognition rates. However, in her study the culturally distinct population is operationalized as the number of non-Westerners, but the countries whose recognition rates she examines are partly not Western countries themselves (e.g. Japan, Australia) (ibid: 1). So, applying a different method of measurement, the culturally distinct foreign population will, despite Kate's findings, be subject to this study.

Closely related to the issue of cultural identity is religion (Kilp 2011: 197). Since 11 September 2001 inner security has increasingly become the center of attention (Butterwegge/Hentges 2009: 8) and concerns that immigration may be linked to organized crime, terrorism and Islamic fundamentalism are playing an ever more important role (Boswell 2003: 623). As countries in the Middle East and Central Asia are associated with radical Islam and political violence (Crisp 2003: 9), Kate (2005: 18) finds that governments in European countries try to appease their electorates via low recognition rates when a proportionally high number of asylum seekers emanating from predominantly Muslim countries is applying. This negative relationship may well have increased during the following twelve years after her study was conducted, as Islamic terrorism has continued, so that it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> She actually calls them 'ethnically distinct' but how she operationalizes the term rather accounts for cultural than ethnic differences.

worth repeated examination. Furthermore, large numbers of economic migrants, who are not refugees, try to gain access to EU states via the asylum channel (Loescher/Milner 2003: 598). Therefore, unsurprisingly, "the line between economic migrant and asylum seeker progressively blurs in the public mind" (ibid) and "[s]killed migrants and the foreign spouses of citizens arriving legally under migration programs are likely to receive a warmer welcome than asylum-seekers" (Kate 2005: 18), who are largely viewed as 'bogus refugees', abusing the asylum and social security systems (Hatton 2009: 183). Subsequently, Kate (2005: 22) finds the proportion of refugees to other migrants negatively correlated to refugee recognition rates but positively to recognition for humanitarian reasons. Additionally, Holzer and Schneider (2002: 46) point out that educated residents (e.g. in the service sector) are more open to refugees than people working the agricultural/industrial sector as they are less afraid of losing their job to foreign competitors. Unregarded by studies until now and reflecting the educational background, the population's distribution into working sectors will be subject to this study.

Since the authorities' behaviour towards asylum seekers is likely to reflect the citizens' attitude (Holzer et al. 2000a: 260) political conditions account to the greatest possible extent for the public opinion. Beginning with the most basic interface between politics and the public, Mori (2005: 23) does not find a relationship between democracy and recognition rates. However, the states' democracy level shall still be considered, for it would indicate to which extent a government's foreign policies could be linked back to the populations' attitude (cf. Baum/Potter 2008: 39). In the presence of far-right parties center parties tend to take a more restrictive stance (Money 1997: 698) in order to receive their share of votes, too (Holzer/Schneider 2002: 46 f.). Though Neumayer (2005: 64) finds no evidence for the thesis that recognition rates are negatively related to right-wing populist parties' electoral success, there are reasons to regard this factor again; as mentioned, the current refugee crisis has reached the most disastrous extent since the Second World War, hence, the attention drawn to the topic by the media and the general public is considerably higher and the debate more polemic than it was during the period analyzed by Neumayer. Today, in European countries it wouldn't be incredulous to expect asylum policies to be one of the most dominant criteria when the public evaluate the ruling abilities of their governments. The electoral success of far right parties, thus, may well influence asylum recognition rates today and will be a criterion in my research. Though, the national parliaments are the only bodies whose composition directly reflects the electorate's preferences, it is the governments that hold the states' executive power. As it is argued that national governments adopt restrictive policies in an attempt to gain control over the number of (potential) asylum applicants via low recognition rates (Rosenberger/König 2012: 537), the political orientation and the right-wing proportion of national governments shall be investigated as well.

As Toshkov (2013: 7) points out, "electorates often turn against immigrants, creating incentives for politicians to adopt anti-refugee rhetoric and tighten admission standards" when economic conditions are deteriorating. While the most common indicator of welfare, the GDP per capita in destination countries (Holzer et al. 2000b: 1189), according to Neumayer (2005: 59) and Kate (2005: 23), has no statistically significant impact on the general<sup>2</sup> recognition rates, Mori (2005: 24) finds that destination countries with a higher GDP p.c. tend to have lower recognition rates. So, research on this factor's influence in 2014 is necessary. Closely related to the destination countries' GDP is the question of how much of it the countries have already sacrificed for purposes of refugee aid. A high contribution to the United Nations Refugee Agency might incur displeasure among the population (especially in times of economic hardship) and/or evoke the perception that with these financial contributions the responsibility has been shifted to another instance. Therefore, the expenditure on refugee aid rendered to the UNHCR will be taken into account. Furthermore, it is repeatedly argued that residents' fear losing their jobs to asylum seekers can lead to a more restrictive attitude (Boswell 2003: 624; Holzer/Schneider 2002: 18). As a consequence, when unemployment rates in destination countries are high, states may claim that they do not have sufficient resources to assist asylum seekers (Kavuro 2013). Neumayer's findings support this thesis (2005: 61), Kate's do not (2005: 23). Since there is no accordance about this criterion, it shall be assessed newly.

In turn, global aging caused by "subreplacement" fertility regimens is spreading (Jackson et al. 2010: 1). That is, patterns of childbearing that would eventually result, all else being equal, in indefinite population decline (Eberstadt 2009)<sup>3</sup>. Since many authors claim that immigration policy is based on the economic utility of the newcomers (see above), it could be estimated that countries with a more urgent need for population replacement may adopt a more liberal asylum policy in order to sustain the country's productivity (Kate 2005: 23; Schwelien 2004: 203). Surprisingly, Kate (ibid) does not find this kind of relationship. Yet, the thesis is consistent with Holzer et al.'s (2000a: 268) findings that younger applicants, who have better chances of learning the host country's language and adding long-term value to the internal labour market, have higher chances of recognition, thus, the need for population replacement in destination countries will be investigated in this study.

Additionally, a series of legal and administrative aspects must be considered: a new factor appearing on the scene emerges from the Dublin Regulation: if asylum seekers fail to present themselves to the application interview within ten days of being invited, including because they have left the country, their application is suspended for three months. This timeframe is exceeded in many transfers under the Dublin Regulation. (UNHCR 2014: 5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Granting any kind of protection status, see methodological part.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To keep the population of Europe as a whole stable, the annual immigration volume needs to double; to prevent an eventual decline in the size of the "working-age" population (age 15 to 64), Europe's net immigration will have to nearly quadruple. (Eberstadt 2009)

Furthermore, even if applicants return in time, they are not automatically considered by authorities but must re-apply. These applications are then considered subsequent applications and often the asylum seekers have to show new, additional elements in support of their claim. (UNHCR 2012: 8) Therefore, the number of 'Dublin take back applicants' shall be investigated in this study. Noll (2000: 236) considers that the main determinant of recognition rates is domestic refugee law. But legal rulings have less impact on administrative practice and the vast majority of decisions on asylum applications is made by bureaucrats (Sztucki 1999; as cited in Kate 2005: 28). Sztucki argues that courts display more 'convention fundamentalism' than bureaucrats (ibid); therefore, it shall be investigated whether recognition rates are higher when decisions are made by courts. Finally, as not only the nature and complexity of an asylum claim determine how long the case takes to be processed, but also "the structure and the functioning of the asylum system in each Member State[, t]he current stock of pending cases is [...] key information when considering the pressure on the asylum system of the Member States" (EASO 2015: 17 f.) and shall therefore be regarded, too.

In this chapter the results of leading studies have been presented, accompanied by a theoretical discussion of their arguments. It can be concluded that a large number of factors play a role in determining asylum recognition rates. With regard to the single factors, though, there is no accordance among studies' results and scholars often argue controversially. This may be due to the fact that these studies target different periods of time and partly different sample countries. Therefore, it is inevitable to newly conduct research on asylum recognition rates' determinants, especially in the face of the exceptional situation of today's refugee crisis. However, it has been pointed out that mainly five key areas are assumed to shape asylum recognition rates: the conditions in the applicants' origin countries, the social, political and economic conditions in the destination countries and legal and administrative factors. Hence, these will be the theoretical categories along which the analysis will be carried out, as will be explained further in the next chapter.

## **3** METHODS

In this chapter the methodological framework for the analysis will be elaborated. The selection of the cases will be explained, i.e. why they provide a suitable basis to answer the research question. In the following section it will be justified which data will be gathered and how it has been collected. Afterwards the method of data analysis will be presented: grounded in the insights from the theory part, the analytical scheme for examining the gathered information to derive an answer to the research question and the steps of the following analysis will be explained.

## **3.1** Case selection

The cases selected for this study are the first instance recognition rates of Bulgaria and Hungary in the year 2014. Bulgaria's recognition rate in 2014 was the highest and Hungary's the lowest among all EU member states. Being the two extreme cases within the EU, they are the ones that are to the greatest possible extent suited to provide an explanation of today's determinants of asylum recognition rates. Furthermore, this study will focus on first instance recognition rates for on the one hand, analyzing as well the determinants of the EU-highest and -lowest recognition rates of final decisions on appeal in detail would be beyond the scope of this thesis and, on the other hand, the final recognition rates are not much different from the first instance rates, so that anyway no significantly distinct results could be expected. As in 2013 there were still almost 200,000 less persons applying for asylum in the European Union, with the 2014 figures reflecting the strongest year-to-year increase (+43%) since EU-level data collection began (EASO 2015: 13), the challenges faced by asylum policies in 2014 appear to be rather different to those faced in the previous years. Therefore, the analysis shall focus on the year 2014 only, so as to obtain a result as up to date and precise as possible<sup>4</sup>.

## **3.2** Method of data collection

Since in practice, many applications are not decided upon during the period they are submitted, the actual recognition rate (the share of successful asylum applications) cannot be calculated (UNHCR 2002: 58). This study will, therefore, follow the UNHCR (ibid) practice of comparing national practices by dividing the number of positive decisions by the total number of decisions taken during a period (the share of successful decisions). Some of the authors referred to in the theory part distinguish between the recognition rates for the different protection statuses granted. To keep within reasonable bounds, if not specifically indicated, this study refers to the recognition rate as the share of *any kind* of protection granted (refugee status, subsidiary protection or allowance to stay for humanitarian reasons). In the absence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Figures from 2015 are not available before March 2016.

an internationally agreed methodology for calculating recognition rates (UNHCR 2015a: 30), for the means of international comparability, data on recognition rates will be taken from Eurostat instead of relying on national sources. For the same reason, Eurostat will be the source for as much of all further information as possible.

Aspects for which Eurostat data is unavailable will, as far as possible, be analysed on the basis of data from one source for all/both countries. This will primarily be the case when investigating the conditions in the asylum seekers' countries of origin, as these are non-EU states, and for some of the social, economic and especially political conditions in the destination countries. Data on these factors will be taken from the World Bank, the UNHCR, the federal German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ), the Purdue Scale of Political Terror, Freedom House, the World Factbook and the Center for Systemic Peace, as these are big renowned institutions that provide cross-border information; for fact-based, unjudged information on political conditions like the parliamentary election results and the parties composing the government, the national websites are considered reliable sources, too. If not further specified (below or in the appendix), data will regard conditions in 2014, since the factors' influence on recognition rates in 2014 shall be investigated. In the following, further methodological explanations on single factors will be made where necessary.

The origin countries' literacy rate and the gross enrollment ratio in tertiary school (measuring education) are only available from 2011 to 2013, and, unfortunately, only for three countries. Still, both factors in these countries vary so strongly that they cannot be expected to have changed significantly until 2014. As these three countries make up only 38 % of applicants in Hungary and 85 % in Bulgaria, their impact will be evaluated according to the origin-specific recognition rates. Since the perception of the asylum burden is assumed to primarily depend on the number of asylum seekers residing in the destination country, regardless of which instance made the decision, the number of recognized past asylum seekers p.c. refers to the total number of positive decisions in both instances from 2008 to 2013, divided by the population of 2014, as this is the year in which the past burden's impact shall be estimated. As discussed beforehand, there is no sense in measuring the culturally distinct foreign population as 'non-Western' foreigners. Over the long time that the EU has been existing, its geographical, religious and partly linguistic closeness, EU-citizenship can rather be associated with a similar cultural heritage (Horga/Brie 2010: 155), so that this criterion will be regarded to as the share of non-EU-citizens among the foreign population. Unfortunately, there is no individual information about the asylum seekers' religion. To get as close to the proportion of Muslim asylum seekers as possible, in this study the number of applicants from the top five origin countries will be counted proportionally<sup>5</sup> to the percentage of Muslims in the countries.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  e.g. if 1000 Syrians applied and in Syria there are 87% Muslims, then 870 applicants will be counted as Muslims

The electoral success of right-wing parties will be measured by the percentage of seats they achieved in the parliament (which is the same as the percentage of votes in Hungary) as those parties who received votes but did not pass the 4 % threshold (NABG 2014a) to gain entry in the Bulgarian parliament are hardly determinant for policy outcome. The need for population replacement will be measured primarily by two factors: firstly, the demographic situation of the countries, precisely, the percentage of people over 65 years, and secondly, by their fertility rates. Unfortunately, most recent data available on fertility rates is from 2013 but figures of previous years reveal that since 2010 the maximum variation has been of 0.1 children (Eurostat 2016h), hence, data from 2013 may be considered as a sufficient indicator. Additionally, since the need for population replacement comprises the need for labour force (replacement), the countries' labour force as the % of the population shall be regarded, too. As first instance decisions are made by bureaucrats and final decisions on appeal by courts (EASO 2015: 17), to estimate the decision making body's impact, the recognition rate of final decisions on appeal will be considered. Detailed information on the sources used is provided in the appendices.

## **3.3** Method of data analysis

The analysis will be carried out as a comparative case study along the criteria elaborated in the theory part. The theory part has revealed that there are five key areas that play a role in determining national asylum recognition rates – the conditions in the applicants' countries of origin, the characteristics of the asylum population applying in a destination country, the burden it places on the destination country, the social, political and economic conditions in the destination country and legal and administrative factors – hence, these will be the main groups of factors that will be analyzed. The order of analysis stems from the underlying subquestion: do the recognition rates in both countries differ due to the applicants' claims' merits or other factors? If the origin-specific recognition rates for the main applicant groups (which cover (more than) 90 % of all applicants) in Bulgaria and Hungary do not correspond to the conditions in their countries of origin (i.e. the merit of their claims), the reasons for the discrepancy must be caused by other factors. It will be examined whether individual characteristics of the applicants account for the variance. Since no information on individual cases is available, the characteristics of the asylum population as a whole applying in each destination country will be compared. In case no substantial differences are found within the asylum population seeking protection in Bulgaria and Hungary, the reasons for the discrepancy of their recognition rates must be grounded in the different conditions in the destination countries. Hence, these will have to be examined, too. The two destination countries will be compared with regard to the asylum burden they are facing, their national social, political and economic situation and different legal and administrative conditions.

Since their recognition rates differ so fundamentally (from 9 to 94 %), it will be inferred that aspects that turn out to be equal or almost equal in both countries, do not account for the variance in recognition rates, whereas conditions that turn out considerably distinct in Bulgaria and Hungary will be regarded to have an impact on recognition rates. The impact will be estimated according to which extent the analyzed aspects are consistent with the origin-specific recognition rates or the variance of the destination countries' recognition rates respectively. This qualitative method of data analysis is chosen in order to allow for a closer look at single factors and to enable to identify more subtle relations, contractions or paradoxes, as well as the possible interplay among the analyzed conditions. Observations will be evaluated vis-á-vis other scholars' findings and, finally, prepare the path to a practical conclusion in terms of policy implications on the national and European level.

In this chapter the methodological background for the analysis has been explained. The key insights generated can be summarized as follows: the cases selected are Bulgaria's and Hungary's first instance asylum recognition rates in 2014. Wherever available, figures used will be taken from Eurostat, otherwise, when investigating conditions in the asylum seekers' countries of origin and some of the social, economic and especially political conditions in the destination countries international institutions or national bodies will be sources. This data will be analyzed and compared, step by step, on the basis of the categories elaborated in the theory chapter, parting from the conditions in the origin countries, to characteristics of the asylum population, the burden they place on destination countries, the latter's social, political and economic conditions, to, finally, the legal and administrative factors.

## 4 ANALYSIS

As already mentioned in the beginning, in 2014 out of 7,435 asylum claims decided upon in Bulgaria, 94 % were recognized at the first instance (Eurostat 2015b: 4). In Hungary protection was only granted to 9 % of the 5,445 cases decided upon (ibid). In this section the two countries will be compared on the basis of the characteristics elaborated in the theoretical part in order to find out where this discrepancy emerges from. It will be investigated whether the differences are grounded in different conditions in the applicants' origin countries, individual differences of the asylum seekers or whether differences in the destination countries – i.e. different asylum burdens, different social, political and economic situations and differences between the two countries will be highlighted and linked back to their recognition rates, as explained in the previous chapter. In the end, the results will be evaluated and assumptions about the determinants of EU countries' recognition rates across member states.

## 4.1 Conditions in origin countries<sup>6</sup>

If the conditions in the applicants' origin countries were the key determinants of recognition rates, as it should be (for they embody the claim's merit), then the origin-specific recognition rates in both destination countries would be the same for each nationality. If there were no similarity at all, conditions in origin countries could not be a relevant factor. Three nationalities are among the five main groups of applicants in both destination countries: Syrians, Afghans and Iraqis. There is, in fact, some similarity in origin-specific total recognition rates for these three countries – in Bulgaria as in Hungary, Syrians have the highest chance of recognition of these, Iraqis the second and Afghans the lowest of these – so that the conditions in origin countries are assumed to matter at least to a certain extent and are worth further examination. Unfortunately, in the case of Bulgaria, the conditions in the origin countries of the group of stateless applicants cannot be identified. However, without these, the results still account for 90% of the total applicants in both destination countries.

Both Bulgaria and Hungary reward the two origin countries (for which data is available) with the highest GPD p.c. with the highest origin-specific recognition rates and the two or one (for which data is available) with the lowest GDP p.c. with the lowest origin-specific recognition rate. This result is contrary to both existing studies that examined the origin countries' income level: while Neumayer did not find any relationship between the

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  If not further specified, all data used for the analysis can be found in the appendices with the number of each sub-section (e.g. sub-section 4.1 -> Annex 1).

origin countries' GDP p.c. and origin-specific recognition rates, Kate found a negative relationship (see above). On the one hand, it could signify that destination countries try to shield themselves from economic migrants by rather accepting applicants from wealthier countries. On the other hand, the exact order of recognition rates is not consistent with that of the GDP p.c.: Syrian applicants face the highest chance of recognition but are only the second wealthiest – and actually, they will probably have been even less wealthy in 2014 since the latest available figure for Syria's GDP p.c. is from 2007 and it has to be estimated that the real GDP p.c. had considerably decreased until 2014, as the war has caused great losses (SCPR 2015: 6). Furthermore, due to missing data, this relationship is observed solely on the basis of four countries' origin-specific recognition rates in Bulgaria and only three in Hungary. Though, this relationship's validity is unclear and, hence, the impact of other conditions in origin countries, related to issues of safety, must be regarded first before drawing a clear conclusion.

In both destination countries recognition rates are highest for the applicant group from the country that generated the highest number of refugees per capita (Syria), which is consistent with Kate's result; but Kate missed to set the number of refugees generated by a country in relation to the country's total population. Of course, a number of x refugees generated by a country indicates a more dangerous situation in that country, when these x refugees make up 50 % of the population, than if they represented 'only' e.g. 10 %. Regarding to the number of refugees generated *per capita*, this study's results show that recognition of the rest of applicants (not Syrians) is not consistent with the order of the most/least refugee p.c. generating origin countries. And hence, it is to assume that, if the conditions in origin countries matter, it must be the specific causes for people's flight that determine recognition rates, not just their consequences (the number of refugees). For the level of human rights violations as well as political rights and civil liberties a similar principle applies: the origin countries in the worst conditions face the highest chances of recognition and those better off, the lowest. However, within this tendency, there are substantial differences: the level of human rights violations is equal in Afghanistan and Pakistan, though, Pakistani applicants have a recognition rate of 0 % in Bulgaria whereas Afghans face a 23 % chance of recognition. On the other hand, applicants from Afghanistan, where political rights and civil liberties are missing to the same extent, only have about half the chances of recognition as Iraqi applicants in both Bulgaria and Hungary. For these reasons, human rights violations, political rights and civil liberties only indicate a tendency of recognition rates (the worse the conditions the higher the recognition rate) but are not considered determinants of the latter.

Except for Afghanistan, ethnic war is perfectly reflected by origin-specific recognition rates in Hungary. Afghanistan faces zero ethnic but serious revolutionary war (Taliban against the government); its recognition rate is medium-low. This shows that, refuting the former argumentation of the theory section, ethnic and revolutionary war should not be considered

separately but as a composite variable that is correlated to recognition. In Bulgaria, though, countries where warfare is worse have higher chances of recognition, too, but at the same time differences within this trend are strong: e.g. in Pakistan there is war, too, but Pakistani's recognition rate is 0 %. This indicates that further factors must be investigated as well. Adverse regime change (unfavourable changes in the style of governance), genocide/politicide and interstate war cannot be identified as determinants of recognition rates because they are (nearly) non-existent in all compared countries (in Iraq the 'Islamic State' committed genocide to Yazidis and Christians but the magnitude was still low in 2014) but still origin-specific recognition rates differ considerably. Nevertheless, this does not mean that these factors are now proven irrelevant in general. It is obviously not possible to prove the impact of something that is non-existent. However, the fact that ethnic and revolutionary wars apparently have an impact on recognition rates and that their single impact cannot be distinguished indicates that most probably interstate war influences recognition rates the same way, when it takes place on the grounds of the origin country.

In the case of adverse regime change, the influence on recognition rates is likely to depend on how 'unfavourable' the changes in the style of governance are. The former results allow for the presumption that adverse regime change to the extent of human rights violations and political and civil liberties restrictions would have some limited impact on recognition rates. If the regime change reaches the extent of politicide, it may, on the one hand, be supposed that it would enhance the chances of asylum recognition for people's lives were similarly threatened. On the other hand, politicide targets a special group so that affected refugees would have to prove that they belong to this group whereas warfare in the origin country is a threat to (almost) every citizen's life. This logic is assumed to be applicable to genocide, too, though it might be slightly easier for refugees threatened by genocide since there will probably less governmental efforts to hide it from the international public. Again, it has to be reminded that these latter considerations are not assumptions directly derived from the data but from the assumptions that have been derived beforehand from the data. The data examined gives no prove for these arguments but simply provides the ground for the logic of these arguments.

Finally, life expectancy is positively correlated to origin-specific recognition rates. This, on the one hand, contradicts the fact that applicants in whose origin countries the conditions are worse (e.g. due to war) are more likely to be recognized. On the other hand, it is to a certain extent consistent with the tendency of higher recognition rates for applicants from wealthier countries. Since a low life expectancy at birth is not a criterion that qualifies for asylum but rather reflects aspects of poverty, war, education etc. (Kate 2005: 10) – which have now been or will be investigated in the following – life expectancy itself is not considered a relevant factor. So all in all, it can be highlighted that data has revealed that the human rights, political rights and civil liberties situation indicate a tendency for recognition

rates and that ethnic and revolutionary warfare is the factor with the highest explanatory potential. Though, it is supposed that interstate war on domestic ground has a similar impact, as well as adverse regime change, dependent on its extent; on whether it presents a threat to refugees' lives (as in the cases of genocide or politicide) and how easily applicants can prove this threat to their own lives. Regarding the impact of the origin countries' GDP p.c. it can so far only be said that it is by far no determinant of origin-specific recognition rates, but a final statement shall depend on the interplay with other observations, to be made in the following sections.

## 4.2 Characteristics of the asylum population

As the conditions in origin countries do not fully correspond to the variance in origin-specific recognition rates, individual characteristics of the applicants in Bulgaria and Hungary will now be assessed. Asylum seekers in Hungary and Bulgaria were characterized by nearly the same age and gender distribution. Thus, age and gender of applicants does not account for the difference in the countries' recognition rates. Unfortunately, there is no data available on the applicants' marital status. Nevertheless, it is supposed that marital status has no significant impact on recognition rates, for it is neither primarily relevant in terms of labour market utility nor population substitution. Furthermore, there is no information available on applicants' medical conditions and mental competence that is precise enough as to allow for any conclusions. Literacy rates and the percentage of people with university education do not reflect the proportion of origin-specific recognition rates: among the origin countries where comparable data is available, Syrians who are the most educated, face the highest chances of recognition in both Bulgaria and Hungary, but Pakistani applicants have a origin-specific recognition rate of less than 4 % in both destination countries, although they are on average twice as literate and educated as Afghans, who have a more than seven times higher chance of recognition in both countries (Annex 2; Eurostat 2016b). Though this observation is based on data of only three origin countries, the differences or the inconsistency with their originspecific recognition rates proportion is so high, that it is, nevertheless, hypothesized that education-related aspects do not influence the chances of recognition.

These results are quite surprising since Holzer et al. found age and gender determinant and several authors emphasize the importance of the applicants' utility for the labour market, which clearly depends on literacy (and education) (see above). Apparently, Holzer et al.'s argument that those asylum seekers who are most likely to be economic migrants (young, single males) have the lowest chance of being recognized is not applicable. With reference to the former sub-section, it seems that little importance has to be attached to the vague consistency of origin-specific recognition rates with the origin countries' GDP p.c., for destination countries do not primarily seem to worry about economic migrants, or at least not on the basis of such superficial criteria. As no determinants of asylum recognition rates have been found among the characteristics of the asylum population, differences in the burden they place on Bulgaria and Hungary will be scrutinized in the following section.

## 4.3 Destination countries' asylum burden

In 2014 Hungary received almost four times more asylum applications than Bulgaria, which were more than three times more applications per capita than in Bulgaria. Hungary had already been receiving way more applications in the six year before: nearly three times more in absolute numbers and the double amount of applications per capita compared to Bulgaria. Additionally, the change has been much stronger in Hungary. While in both countries the number of applicants had been steadily rising for the last three years, in Hungary it had increased by 9 times from 2012 to 2013 and more than doubled until 2014; in Bulgaria the number 'only' rose by 5 times from 2012 to 2013 and only by ca. 50 % until 2014. It is therefore hypothesized that a higher number of applicants decreases the destination country's recognition rate, especially when the number of applications has recently undergone a drastic increase. Furthermore, the absolute number of applications is considered to be even more influential than the number in relation to the country's population, as it is the absolute number that is even more higher in Hungary than in Bulgaria. This might be due to how applicants are perceived: very rarely their number is being viewed in relation to the destination country's population, as shows the example of Germany, which during the last years attracted more media attention for receiving most applicants (in absolute numbers) than Sweden which received the highest numbers in the EU in relation to its population.

During the six years before 2014 Bulgaria had already accepted about one third more asylum seekers than Hungary had in the same period, which were more than the double amount per capita in Bulgaria than in Hungary. Hence, a higher burden already shouldered during previous years does not lead to a lower recognition rate. On the one hand, it can be observed that both countries follow a tradition: Bulgaria's recognition rate has almost the whole time been (a bit) higher than Hungary's; on the other hand, there was a turning point in both countries' recognition rates in distinct directions in 2013. Consequently, it is deduced that the countries' tradition of generosity (or isolation, respectively) influences future recognition rates, though not to the extent of the variance from 9 % to 94 % in 2014, i.e. further factors must play an important role, too.

Unfortunately, recognition rates of non-EU neighbouring states (Macedonia, Serbia, Turkey and Ukraine) are not available. However, it can be estimated that recognition rates in Ukraine, Serbia and Macedonia were low, whereas Turkey's recognition rate might have been considerably higher.<sup>7</sup> Thus, Bulgaria and Hungary have two mutual neighbours of which one has an EU-average recognition rate and one probably a very low one. Both have two neighbours with (probably) low rates and one with probably a high rate. Additionally, Hungary has borders with two countries that have low to average but still considerably higher recognition rates than Hungary. At least all neighbouring countries for which exact data is avaible have recognition rates higher than in Hungary and lower than in Bulgaria, so that there can be neither a 'race to the bottom' nor a 'race to the top', as had been argued in the theory part. Recognition rates of neighbouring countries are, therefore, hypothesized to be uninfluential on domestic rates. Domestic conditions will thus be examined in the following section.

## 4.4 Social, political and economic conditions in destination countries

Hungary has about 1.7 million more inhabitants than Bulgaria and a 62 % higher population density. Though, a bigger population might theoretically absorb larger numbers of entrants, this example shows that the applicability of this argument is limited by a high population density. As a result, the population size itself is considered to be irrelevant whereas a high population density has a negative impact on recognition rates. The share of foreign population has neither changed significantly in either one of the countries nor was it significantly distinct in 2014, so that it cannot account for the discrepancy between Bulgaria's and Hungary's recognition rates. However, again, it has to be taken into consideration that what is not existent cannot be measured. In both destination countries lived hardly any foreigners at all (< 1.5 %) and that had not changed (< 0.4 %) since 2008. As a result, it can only be observed that the (change of the) proportion of foreign population does not account for the different recognition rates in 2014. It would rather be necessary to observe these factors in future years. Whether they have an impact on recognition rates in general, may only be guessed dependent on whether in the further course of the analysis substantial differences regarding aspects of xenophobia are found.

In Bulgaria the proportion of 'culturally distinct' foreigners among the total foreign population is much higher than in Hungary. It would be strange to assume that because there are more culturally distinct foreigners, Bulgaria wants to receive even more, but at least Bulgaria seems to be more tolerant towards them. The same applies to the proportion of asylum seekers among foreign residents, which is higher in Bulgaria, too. The vast majority of asylum seekers in both countries are Muslims, so that Bulgaria is probably more tolerant towards them, too. Nevertheless, the share of Muslims among asylum seekers does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> as i. Ukraine was one of the main sources of refugees in 2014 (UNHCR 2015a: 15), ii. Refugees originating from Serbia (and Kosovo) increased by 62 % from 2013 to 2014 (ibid: 28), iii. Macedonia hosted only 1,768 refugees while 7,791 asylum applications were still pending (ibid: 52), iv. Turkey hosted 1,6 million refugees (ibid: 10).

account for the varying recognition rates, for it is almost equal in both destination countries. Neither does the distribution of the population into working sectors, as it, too, hardly differs. Subsequently, it is supposed that Hungary is to a certain extent more xenophobic than Bulgaria. Hence, the observations made regarding the proportion of foreign population in the destination country, rather than refuting the factor's impact, are believed to generally have a negative impact on recognition rates, though not proved in the examined cases.

Since Bulgaria's democracy level is 10 % higher than Hungary's, it could be estimated that asylum recognition rates in Bulgaria reflect slightly more the attitude of a wider share of the population than in Hungary. However, in parliamentary elections in 2014 in Hungary the far-right Fidesz party repeatedly (Freedom House 2015c: 268) gained a two thirds supermajority. Together with another, ultranationalist party, these two had 78 % of seats. At least the same percentage of the ministries was led by these two parties. In Bulgaria a right party gained 33 % of parliamentary seats. Its members led 60 % of the ministries. However, this government began its ruling only in November 2014 (NABG 2014b) so it is hardly responsible for the policies carried out during the year. Until July 2014 Bulgaria had had a center-left government (Freedom House 2015b: 166), so there is no right tradition as in Hungary. Besides, Bulgaria's right-wing, according to Freedom House (2015b: 166; 2015c: 269), is not as antiliberal, nationalistic and religiously divisive as Hungary's. Consequently, the success of far right parties and the government's ideology play an important role with regard to asylum recognition rates, regardless of the overall democracy level. This result disproves Neumayer's finding but is consistent with the further argumentation elaborated in the theory part regarding these factors.

Hungary's GDP p.c. is ca. 80 % higher than Bulgaria's and the unemployment rate is ca. 30 % times lower than in Bulgaria – still Bulgaria's recognition rate is so much higher. That the country with the higher GDP p.c. has the lower recognition rate is consistent with Mori's finding (see above). However, her result is based on recognition rates of 145 countries worldwide, thus, many of them are developing neighbouring countries of the crisis trouble spots. These are known to host disproportionally high numbers of refugees, as many of the fleeing people seek refuge in a neighbouring country (UNHCR 2015e; UNHCR 2016). Therefore, Mori's finding that a higher GDP p.c. leads to a lower recognition rate cannot likewisely be applied to relatively wealthier or poorer European Union member states as these do not share the same relationship with the origin countries as the latter's (poor) neighbouring countries do. Hence, the result of this analysis is to be interpreted as following: in accordance with Neumayer and Kate, the destination countries' GDP p.c. is hypothesized to have no impact on their recognition rates. Regarding the unemployment rate, Kate's thesis is supported, Neumayer's is not: there is no negative relationship between unemployment and recognition (as assuming a positive relationship would simply make no sense).

That neither aspect is considered influential on recognition rates is, on the one hand, surprising, since a comparatively wealthier country is expected to have a higher economic capacity to welcome asylum seekers. On the other hand, Hungary contributed a 70 times higher percentage of its GDP to the United Nations Refugee Agency than Bulgaria, which corresponds to ca. a 150 times higher amount per capita. This shows a much more generous side of Hungary, but at the same time Hungary might, therefore, want to avoid further expenditures that go along with recognizing high numbers of asylum seekers. Hence, it is hypothesized that (relatively to GDP) high contributions to UNHCR have a negative impact on recognition rates. Regarding the need of population replacement, Bulgaria and Hungary have almost an equal percentage of population over 65 years and almost equal percentage of labour force. Their fertility rates are almost equally low compared to the 2.1 replacement rate required to maintain a stable population from one generation to the next (Jackson et al. 2012: 1). Though the data available on fertility rates is from 2013, figures of previous years reveal that since 2010 the maximum variation has been of 0.1 children (Eurostat 2016h). Hence, the data used is considered a sufficient indicator to create a valid result. Even if paying attention to the slight differences, Bulgaria is the country with the higher fertility rate and higher labour force, and hence with the less need for population replacement, but still the one with the immensely higher recognition rate. Consequently, need for population replacement is not assumed to be influential on recognition rates.

## 4.5 Legal and administrative considerations

Finally, legal and administrative factors shall be considered. The number of accepted takeback requests under the Dublin Regulation does not necessarily imply that these people's applications are part of the recognition rate in 2014, as they can as well be decided upon after 2014 and, of course, the recognition rate also consists of decisions upon claims of former years. However, under the circumstances explained in the theoretical section, by a very large number of accepted take-back requests lower recognition rates can be expected. This was the case in 2014: Hungary accepted almost 80 times more Dublin take-back requests than Bulgaria (and had accepted up to 15 times more than Bulgaria in the previous years as well). Since, as explained, these 'taken back' applicants must have had a very low chance of being recognized upon return, the number of accepted take-back requests by destination countries is hypothesized to negatively influence national recognition rates. With regard to final decisions on appeal, Bulgaria's recognition rate for those decisions is the highest in the EU, too, and Hungary's remains among the member states with the lowest rates. Thus, the fact whether decisions are made by bureaucrats or courts is considered irrelevant with respect to recognition rates. At the beginning of 2014 Hungary's number of pending cases was considerably lower than Bulgaria's but during the year it increased from 1,970 to 15,685

cases, which constitutes a relative change of +723 % from December 2013 to December 2014, whereas Bulgaria's number of pending cases only increased by 19 %. Hungary was the country with the highest relative increase of pending cases in the EU. Though, Hungary's recognition rate was already very low (8%) when there were 723 % less pending cases, and Bulgaria's recognition even increased by 7 % in spite of the 19 % more pending cases. Therefore, the number of pending cases cannot be considered to have a direct impact on recognition rates, but can rather be seen as an indicator of pressure on the asylum system.

#### 4.6 Summary

The (inconsistent) results of former studies have not been able to provide a full, comprehensive explanation of what determines asylum recognition rates in the current crisis. In the course of this thesis, the analysis of Bulgaria's and Hungary's first instance recognition rates in 2014 has resulted in the following explanation: Human rights violations, civil liberties and political rights to a certain extent, indicate a tendency – the worse the situation in the origin countries, the higher the origin-specific recognition rate. Domestic war influences origin specific recognition rates in the same way. Its relationship with recognition rates is the strongest among conditions in origin countries, yet, their influence is not all-encompassing. A variety of factors that lie outside the merits of the asylum claims play a role as well: the number of applications a destination country receives has a strong negative impact on general recognition rates, especially when there has recently been a drastic increase. To a limited extent, destination countries follow a tradition of generosity and isolation respectively, though, that tradition is not *determinant*. Population density has a negative impact on recognition rates. Bulgaria is more tolerant towards culturally distinct foreigners and asylum seekers in general, and Muslims, too. The success of far-right parties and, consequently, the governments' political ideology are one of the determinants of (low) recognition rates. Relatively to the countries' GDP high contributions to the United Nations Refugee Agency appear to lead to lower recognition rates. So does a high number of accepted take-back requests under the Dublin Regulation. The number of pending cases has no direct impact on recognition rates but indicates the pressure on the destination country's asylum system.

No impact of interstate war, adverse regime change, genocide, politicide has been found. However, logical interpretations of the other results lead to the hypothesis that interstate war has the same impact on recognition rates when it takes place on the origin country's ground; that adverse regime change itself is no determinant, but its consequences; thus, genocide and politicide might have the same impact as warfare, depending of the applicant's ability to prove it. The number of refugees generated by a country of origin, its GDP p.c., demographic factors of the applicants, the number of past recognized claims, recognition rates of neighbouring countries, population size and share of foreign population, the population's distribution into working sectors, the country's democracy level, destination countries' GDP p.c., unemployment rate, need for population replacement and whether asylum applications are decided upon by bureaucrats or courts are assumed not to have an impact on recognition rates.

## **5** CONCLUSION

In this chapter the answer found to the research question will be assessed from a more practical point of view. Its relevance, limits and practical implications, in terms of further research and political actions, will be discussed. As displayed in detail at the end of the previous chapter, the answer to the research question has various facets as several factors play a role in shaping national asylum recognition rates and there is a strong interplay between them. Initially, asylum recognition rates are determined by the merit of the claims, that is, the extent to which the conditions in origin countries subject the applicants to persecution and threaten their lives. Applicants are not discriminated against on the basis of their demographic or educational characteristics. But when the burden for host countries becomes heavier, the principles of the Geneva Convention tend to be forgotten and xenophobic governments and their policies of isolation are strengthened. Meanwhile the Dublin Regulation causes some additional administrative burden from which the applicants' chances of recognition suffer. This answer is to a certain extent in accordance with all of the introduced authors, though, it does not reflect to 100 % the explanation provided by any one of them. Overall, it supports Toshkov's (2013: 8) and Holzer et al.'s (2000b: 1185) statement that the vagueness and discretion of the Geneva Convention allow for a wide range of asylum policies even for the governments that are bound by its provisions. The recognition rate is, therefore, following Holzer et al. (2000a: 259), rather considered "as a policy variable that [...] authorities seek to alter according to specific political constraints".

With the current crisis, ever more and more refugees emanate from the Arab World and the end is not in sight. As these refugees do not possess the exit option to simply flee from a restrictive to a more liberal member state, the strong variance of national recognition rates across the European Union remains a major problem "if the EU moves closer toward a harmonization of its asylum practices but ultimately fails to establish uniform standards in the ways in which asylum seekers are treated" (ibid: 270). But in order to find a solution to the problem, obviously its roots have to be identified, for which the answer to the research question found in the course of this thesis is of great relevance. Of course, it has its limits. But thereby fields where further research has urgently to be done are revealed. First of all, no causal relationship between the conditions investigated and the recognition rates can ultimately be proven but correlations have been discovered which indicate to certain assumptions. However, in order to obtain a broader basis for a more precise interpretation, especially with regard to all EU member states asylum policies/ recognition rates, a similar analysis would have to be done on all member states. Furthermore, though, as mentioned in the beginning, Europe faced an outstanding inflow of asylum seekers in 2014, the analysis has shown that the two sample countries' recognition rates did not differ that much before 2013. Consequently, to get a deeper understanding of the determinants of asylum recognition rates,

it might be helpful to analyze the criteria of this study in the long term. Unfortunately, such a study on all EU countries recognition rates and their possible determinants over a long period of time would have been beyond the scope of this thesis. However, the results of this study can be taken as the starting point for future research and are supposed to be indicators of what results may be expected.

Apart from what the results of this study can tell about the determinants of recognition rates while evaluating the countries' generosity and asylum policy in general, two things have to be kept in mind: firstly, the different protection statuses that a state can grant to asylum seekers binds that state to different legal regulation with respect to the treatment of the asylum seeker (see Eurostat 2015a: 5). Secondly, all the assumptions deduced from the analysis refer exclusively to asylum recognition rates, i.e. they do not necessarily say something about whether a member state is refugee-friendly or not. Some countries may have a high recognition rate because they unfairly reduced the number of possible applications by strictly preventing asylum seekers from entering the country (Böcker/Havinga 1998: 258). Bulgaria had the highest recognition rate of all EU member states in 2014 but has repeatedly been criticized for its brutal and inhuman treatment of refugees both at its borders and with regard to the care recognized asylum seekers receive (e.g. Pelzer 2014: 46 f.). Thus, recognition rates alone are not enough to judge the generosity and fairness of a country's refugee policy. As a consequence, three key areas for political action can be identified.

As "many of the second and third-order rules that specify, interpret, and fill-in the details of the law are not scrutinized by the legislatures", the governments and ministers are given leeway to deteriorate the asylum recognition rules without even formally violating the law (Toshkov 2013: 8). Therefore, a first step would be the creation of an EU-level office that controls the application of these secondary and tertiary rules. Since it has been found out that states especially tighten their borders, the second, and most important measure has to be the establishment of a system of fair burden-sharing instead of pursuing the Dublin Regulation. The Dublin Regulation is in two ways an unsuitable instrument, for it allows the rejection of substantially merited asylum claims and does all the opposite of easing the pressure on those destination countries where the burden is already high. Simply deciding a financial compensation for those member states who take most refugees would deny the equal responsibility of all member states and those who host most asylum seekers are more likely to feel overcrowded. Hence, a quota for refugee distribution on the EU-level has to be introduced. Financial aid has, though, to be granted to those states who otherwise are simply not able to cope with the number of asylum seekers they have to host and to those who are bearing the costs of e.g. rescuing refugees from the Mediterranean and/or providing them with first medical care and alimentation. Thirdly, the EU has to make sure that asylum seekers receive a human treatment in each member states, at the borders as well as while their claim is being processed and once they are accepted. Therefore, the EU has to define concrete rules for asylum seekers' financial support, housing arrangements, detention conditions etc.

It has to be communicated that people fleeing war will not stop seeking refuge in Europe – legally or illegally – but only by a stable and well organized system in which all member states pull together and accept their share of responsibility, the immigration can at least be controlled (for the better). If no voluntary cooperation can be achieved or member states do not stick to the agreements made in practice, sanctions have to be implemented. This would probably be the most effective measure and it would also be a just measure, for it is not acceptable that many states have highly benefited from their European Union membership in the past and/or in the present but when it comes to sharing some responsibility, they simply opt out. The EU has to work commonly on a solution to the crisis, ensuring that all asylum seekers receive a treatment based on their claim's merit.

## **6 BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Adamson, Fiona (2006): Crossing Borders. International Migration and National Security. International Security Vol. 31, No. 1: 165–199
- AIDA (2014): Asylum Information Database (2014): Mind the Gap: An NGO perspective on challenges to accessing protection in the Common European Asylum System. Annual Report 2013/2014. Brussels: European Council on Refugees and Exiles.
- ARDA (2015): The Association of Religion Data Archives (2015). Available at: http://www.thearda.com/internationalData/countries/Country\_76\_1.asp [accessed 24 September 2015]
- Avdan, Nazli (2014): Do asylum recognition rates in Europe respond to transnational terrorism? The migration-security nexus revisited. European Union Politics Vol. 15, No. 4: 445–471
- Baum, Matthew A. /Potter, Philip B.K. (2008): The Relationships Between Mass Media,
   Public Opinion, and Foreign Policy: Toward a Theoretical Synthesis. Annual Review of Political Science Vol. 11: 39-65
- Böcker, Anita/Havinga, Tetty (1998): Asylum Applications in the European Union: Patterns and Trends and the Effects of Policy Measures. Journal of Refugee Studies Vol. 11, No. 3: 245-266
- Boswell, Christina (2000): European values and the asylum crisis. International Affairs Vol. 76, No. 3: 537-557
- Boswell, Christina (2003): The 'external dimension' of EU immigration and asylum policy. International Affairs Vol. 79, No. 3:619-638
- Brücker, Herbert/Schröder, Philipp JH (2011): Migration regulation contagion. European Union Politics Vol. 12, No. 3: 315-335
- Butterwegge, Christoph (2009): Globalisierung als Spaltpilz und sozialer Sprengsatz.
  Weltmarktdynamik und "Zuwanderungsdramatik" im postmodernen Wohlfahrtsstaat.
  In: Butterwegge, Christoph/Hentges, Gudrun (eds.) (2009): Zuwanderung im Zeichen der Globalisierung: Migrations-, Integrations- und Minderheitenpolitik. Wiesbaden: Springer, 4<sup>th</sup> edition: 55-102
- Butterwegge, Christoph/Hentges, Gudrun (2009): Zuwanderung im Zeichen der Globalisierung: Migrations-, Integrations- und Minderheitenpolitik. Wiesbaden: Springer, 4<sup>th</sup> edition
- Cáslavka, Jirí/ Henn, Markus (2012): The Financial Crisis Five Years On. Stimulus vs Austerity. Prague: Prague Global Policy Institute.

- Center for Systemic Peace (2015): Major Episodes of Political Violence 1946-2014. Available at: http://www.systemicpeace.org/warlist/warlist.htm\_[accessed 13 February 2016]
- Central Intelligence Agency (2016): The World Fact Book: Religions. Available at: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/fields/2122.html [accessed 17 February 2016]
- Council of Europe (2016): Chart of signatures and ratifications of Treaty 005. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. Available at: http://www.coe.int/en/web/conventions/full-list/-/conventions/treaty/005/signatures?p\_auth=fCYXgy4h [accessed 3 March 2016]
- Crisp, Jeff (2003): A new asylum paradigm? Globalization, migration and the uncertain future of the international refugee regime. Evalution and Policy Analysis Unit, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. New Issues in Refugee Research Working Paper No. 100. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/3fe16d835.pdf [accessed 13 February 2016]
- EASO (2015): European Asylum Support Office (2015): Annual Report on the Situation of Asylum in the European Union 2014. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Eberstadt, Nicholas (2009): The Population Implosion. Foreign Policy. Available at: http://foreignpolicy.com/2009/11/18/the-population-implosion/ [accessed 12 February 2016]
- Eurostat (2015a): Eurostat Press Office (2015): Asylum decisions in the EU. EU Member States granted protection to more than 185 000 asylum seekers in 2014. Syrians remain the main beneficiaries. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/6827382/3-12052015-apen.pdf/6733f080-c072-4bf5-91fc-f591abf28176 [accessed 23 September 2015]
- Eurostat (2015b): Bitoulas, Alexandros (2015): Population and social conditions. Eurostat Data in focus 3/2015. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/4168041/6742650/KS-QA-15-003-EN-N.pdf/b7786ec9-1ad6-4720-8a1d-430fcfc55018 [accessed 4 February 2016]
- Eurostat (2015c): Decisions on outgoing 'Dublin' requests by receiving country (PARTNER), type of decision, type of request and legal provision. Data code: migr\_dubdo
- Eurostat (2016a): GDP and main components (output, expenditure and income). Data code: nama\_10\_gdp
- Eurostat (2016b): First instance decisions on applications by citizenship, age and sex Annual aggregated data (rounded). Data code: migr\_asydcfsta

- Eurostat (2016c): Asylum and first time asylum applicants by citizenship, age and sex Annual aggregated data (rounded). Data code: migr\_asyappctza
- Eurostat (2016d): Population on 1 January by five year age group, sex and citizenship. Data code: migr\_pop1ctz
- Eurostat (2016e): Final decisions on applications by citizenship, age and sex Annual data (rounded). Data code: migr\_asydcfina
- Eurostat (2016f): Unemployment rate annual data. Data code: tipsun20
- Eurostat (2016g): Population on 1 January by age and sex. Data code: demo\_pjan
- Eurostat (2016h): Fertility rates by age. Data code: demo\_frate
- Eurostat (2016i): Persons subject of asylum applications pending at the end of the month by citizenship, age and sex Monthly data (rounded). Data code: migr\_asypenctzm
- Freedom House (2015a): Freedom in the World 2015. Washington, D.C./New York: Freedom House
- Freedom House (2015b): Nations in Transit 2015 Bulgaria. Available at: https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/NIT2015\_Bulgaria\_0.pdf [accessed 18 February 2016]
- Freedom House (2015c): Nations in Transit 2015 Hungary. Available at: https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/NIT2015\_Hungary\_0.pdf [accessed 18 February 2016]
- Gibney, Matthew J. (1999): Liberal Democratic States and Responsibilities to Refugees. The American Political Science Review Vol. 93, No. 1: 169-181
- GIZ (2016): Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (2016): Länder-Informations-Portal: Palästinensische Gebiete, Gesellschaft. Available at: http://www.liportal.de/palaestinensische-gebiete/gesellschaft/ [accessed 19 February 2016]
- Government of Bulgaria 2016 → Republic of Bulgaria, Council of Ministers (2016): Cabinet. Available at: http://www.government.bg/cgi-bin/e-cms/vis/vis.pl?s=001&p=0230&g= [accessed 16 February 2016]
- Government of Hungary 2016 → Website of the Hungarian Government (2016): Members of the Government. Available at: http://www.kormany.hu/en/members-of-the-government [accessed 16 February 2016]
- Hatton, Timothy J. (2009): The Rise and Fall of Asylum: What Happened and Why? The Economic Journal Vol. 119, No. 535: 183-213

- Holzer, Thomas/Schneider, Gerald/Widmer, Thomas (2000a): Discriminating decentralization: Federalism and the handling of asylum applications in Switzerland, 1988-1996. Journal of Conflict Resolution Vol. 44, No. 2: 250-76
- Holzer, Thomas/Schneider, Gerald/Widmer, Thomas (2000b): The Impact of Legislative Deterrence Measures on the Number of Asylum Applications in Switzerland (1986-1995). The International Migration Review Vol. 34, No. 4: 1182-1216
- Holzer, Thomas/Schneider, Gerald (2002): Asylpolitik auf Abwegen—Nationalstaatliche und Europäische Reaktionen auf die Globalisierung der Flüchtlingsströme. Opladen: Leske und Budrich.
- Horga, Ioan/Brie, Mircea (2010): Europe: a Cultural Border, or a Geo-cultural Archipelago. In: Eurolimes (2010), 9: 155-169.
- IDEA (2009): International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (2009): Democracy in Development. Global consultations on the EU's role in democracy building. Stockholm: International IDEA
- Jackson, Richard/Howe, Neil/Nakashima, Keisuke (2010): The Global Aging Preparedness Index. Washington, D.C.: The Center for Strategic and International Studies
- Kate, Mary-Anne (2005): The provision of protection to asylum-seekers in destination countries. Evalution and Policy Analysis Unit, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. New Issues in Refugee Research Working Paper No. 114. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/42846e7f2.html [accessed 2 February 2016]
- Kavuro, Callixte (2013): Reflecting on Refugees and Asylum-Seekers Tertiary Education in South Africa: Tension Between Refugee Protection and Education Transformation Policies. Available at: http://www.globaleducationmagazine.com/reflecting-refugeesasylum-seekers-tertiary-education-south-africa-tension-refugee-protection-educationtransformation-policies/ [accessed 5 February 2016]
- Kilp, Alar (2011): Religion in the construction of cultural 'self' and 'other'. ENDC Proceedings Volume 14: 197–222
- Kingsley, Patrick (2015): Arab spring prompts biggest migrant wave since Second World War. The Guardian. Available at: http://www.theguardian.com/world/commentisfree/2015/jan/03/arab-spring-migrantwave-instability-war [accessed 24 September 2015]
- Kirişci, Kemal (2015): Why 100,000s of Syrian refugees are fleeing to Europe. The Brookings Institution. Available at: http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/order-fromchaos/posts/2015/09/03-eu-refugee-crisis-kirisci [accessed 24 September 2015]
- LeMay, Michael C. (2004): U.S. Immigration: A Reference Handbook. Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO

- Loescher, Gil/Milner, James (2003): The missing link: the need for comprehensive engagement in regions of refugee origin. International Affairs Vol. 79, No. 3: 595-617
- Money, Jeanette (1997): No Vacancy: The Political Geography of Immigration Control in Advanced Industrial Countries. International Organization Vol. 51, No.4: 685-720
- Mori, Sarah (2005): Variance in Refugee Policies. Missouri Valley Journal of Social Science Vol. 9, No. 1: 1-28
- Müller, Doreen (2010): Flucht und Asyl in europäischen Migrationsregimen: Metamorphosen einer umkämpften Kategorie am Beispiel der EU, Deutschlands und Polens. Göttingen: Universitätsverlag Göttingen
- NABG (2014a): National Assembly of the Republic of Bulgaria (2014). Elections for 43<sup>rd</sup> National Assembly. Available at: http://parliament.bg/en/electionassembly [accessed 19 February 2016]
- NABG (2014b): National Assembly of the Republic of Bulgaria (2014): National Assembly approves Boyko Borisov as Prime Minister of the Republic of Bulgaria. Available at: http://www.parliament.bg/en/news/ID/3244 [accessed 19 February 2016]
- National Election Office (2014): 2014 Parliamentary Elections. Available at: http://valasztas.hu/hu/ogyv2014/861/861\_0\_index.html
- Neumayer, Eric. (2004): Asylum destination choice: What makes some Western European countries more attractive than others? European Union Politics Vol. 5, No. 2: 155-80
- Neumayer, Eric (2005): Asylum Recognition Rates in Western Europe. Their determinants, variation, and lack of convergence. Journal of Conflict Resolution Vol. 49 No. 1: 43-66
- Noll, Gregor (2000): Negotiating asylum: The EU Acquis, extraterritorial protection and the common market of deflection. The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff
- PITS (2014): Political Instability Task Force (2014): State Failure Problem Set, annual data on cases of ethnic war, revolutionary war, adverse regime change, and genocide/politicide. Available at: http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscrdata.html [accessed: 12 February 2016]
- Pelzer, Marei (2014): Bulgarien: Kein Ort für Kriegsflüchtlinge. In: Pro Asyl (2014) (ed.): Gemeinsam gegen Rassismus! Tag des Flüchtlings 2014. Available at: http://www.nds-fluerat.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/05/14\_05\_10\_BHP\_TDFL\_Niedersachsen-2.pdf [accessed 20 February 2016]
- Purdue Political Terror Scale (2015): The Political Terror Scale (PTS). Available at: http://www.politicalterrorscale.org/Data/Download.html [accessed 12 February 2016]

- Rosenberger, Sieglinde/König, Alexandra (2012): Welcoming the Unwelcome: The Politics of Minimum Reception Standards for Asylum Seekers in Austria. Journal of Refugee Studies Vol. 25, No. 4: 537-554
- Schwelien, Michael (2004): Das Boot ist voll. Europa zwischen Nächstenliebe und Selbstschutz. Hamburg: Mare Buchverlag
- SCPR (2015): Syrian Centre for Policy Research (2015): Syria: Alienation and Violence. Impact of Syria Crisis Report 2014. Available at: http://scprsyria.org/publications/policy-reports/scpr-alienation-and-violence-report-2014-2/ [accessed 15 February 2016]
- Soroka, Stuart/Banting, Keith/Johnston, Richard (2003): Immigration and Redistribution in a Global Era. Conference paper, annual meeting of the Canadian Political Science Association, 29 May-June 1; as cited in Kate 2005:18)
- Sztucki, Jerzy (1999): 'Who is a refugee? The Convention definition: universal or obsolete?'.
  In: Nicholson, Frances/Twomey, Patrick (eds.) (1999): Refugee Rights and Realities:
  Evolving International Concepts and Regimes. Cambridge: Cambridge University
  Press: 55-80; as cited in Kate 2005: 28
- Thielemann, Eiko (2004): Does Policy Matter? On Governments' Attempts to Control Unwanted Migration. Working Paper No. 112. University of California, The Center of Comparative Immigration Studies
- Toshkov, Dimiter (2013): The dynamic relationship between asylum applications and recognition rates in Europe (1987–2010). European Union Politics Vol. 0 No. 0: 1-23
- United Nations (1984): Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. United Nations Treaty Series Vol. 1465: 85
- UNHCR (2002): The United Nations Refugee Agency (2002): Statistical Yearbook 2001. Refugees, Asylum-seekers and Other Persons of Concern - Trends in Displacement, Protection and Solutions. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/3dcb7e574.html [accessed 5 February 2016]
- UNHCR (2012): The United Nations Refugee Agency (2012): Hungary as a country of asylum. Observations on the situation of asylum-seekers and refugees in Hungary. Available at: http://www.unhcr-centraleurope.org/pdf/resources/legal-documents/unhcr-handbooks-recommendations-and-guidelines/hungary-as-a-country-of-asylum-2012.html [accessed 24 February 2016]
- UNHCR (2014): The United Nations Refugee Agency (2014): Bulgaria as a Country of Asylum. UNHCR Observations on the Current Situation of Asylum in Bulgaria. Available at: http://www.unhcr-centraleurope.org/pdf/resources/legaldocuments/unhcr-handbooks-recommendations-and-guidelines/bulgaria-as-a-countryof-asylum-2014.html [accessed 24 February 2016]

- UNHCR (2015a): United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2015): Global Trends. Forced Displacement in 2014. Available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/558292924.html [accessed 11 September 2015]
- UNHCR (2015b): United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2015): States Parties to the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Protocol. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/3b73b0d63.html [accessed 11 September 2015]
- UNHCR (2015c): United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2015): Bulgaria. 2015 UNHCR subregional operations profile - Northern, Western, Central and Southern Europe. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/pages/49e48db16.html# [accessed 13 September 2015]
- UNHCR (2015d): United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2015): Hungary. 2015 UNHCR subregional operations profile - Northern, Western, Central and Southern Europe. Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/pages/49e48dd76.html# [accessed 13 September 2015]
- UNHCR (2015e): United Nations Refugee Agency for Central Europe (2015): UNHCR report shows world's poorest countries host most refugees. Available at: http://www.unhcrcentraleurope.org/en/news/2015/unhcr-report-shows-worlds-poorest-countries-hostmost-refugees.html [accessed 17 March 2016]
- UNHCR (2016): Syria Regional Refugee Response. Available at: http://data.unhcr.org/syrianrefugees/regional.php# [accessed 17 March 2016]
- Vink, Maarten/Meijerink, Frits (2003): Asylum Applications and Recognition Rates in EU Member States 1982–2001: A Quantitative Analysis. Journal of Refugee Studies Vol. 16, No. 3: 297-315
- World Bank (2016a): GDP per capita (current US\$). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD [accessed 24 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016b): Life expectancy at birth, total (years). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN [accessed 24 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016c): Adult literacy rate, population 15+ years, both sexes (%). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.ADT.LITR.ZS [accessed 29 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016d): Gross enrolment ratio, tertiary, both sexes (%). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.TER.ENRR [accessed 29 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016e): Population density (people per sq. km of land area). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.DNST [accessed 22 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016f): Employment in agriculture (% of total employment). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.AGR.EMPL.ZS [accessed 23 February 2016]

- World Bank (2016g): Employment in industry (% of total employment). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.IND.EMPL.ZS [accessed 23 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016h): Employment in services (% of total employment). Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.SRV.EMPL.ZS [accessed 23 February 2016]
- World Bank (2016i): Labor force, total. Available at: http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.TOTL.IN [accessed 23 February 2016]
- Zetter, Roger (2009): Forced migration in an era of global financial crisis what will happen to refugees? In: Castles, Stephen/Miller, Mark J. (2009): The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 4<sup>th</sup> edition: Update 1B

## 7 APPENDICES

| A 1        | <b>A</b> 1141 | •      | ••     |           |
|------------|---------------|--------|--------|-----------|
| Anney I    | ( 'ondifi     | one in | origin | countries |
| I IIIICA I | Conun         | ons m  | origin | countries |

| 2014   | Bulgaria        |          |      |     |                   | Hungary   |   |                       |     |           |
|--|-----------------|----------|------|-----|-------------------|-----------|---|-----------------------|-----|-----------|
| Five main  |                 | No. of   | %    | of  | Recog.            |           | No. of  | %                     | of  | Recog.    |
| citizenships of                                    |                 | applica. | tota | 1   | Rate <sup>9</sup> |           | applica.                                      | tota                  | ıl  | Rate      |
| applicants <sup>8</sup>                            | Syria           | 6245     |      | 56  | 100               | Kosovo    | 21455   |                       | 50  | 0         |
|  | Afghan.         | 2965     | ,    | 27  | 23                | Afghan.   | 8795  |                       | 21  | 26        |
|  | Iraq            | 610      |      | 6   | 44                | Syria     | 6855  |                       | 16  | 69        |
|  | Stateless       | 270      |      | 2   | 97                | Palestine | 875   |                       | 2   | 50        |
|  | Pakistan        | 185      |      | 2   | 0                 | Iraq      | 495   |                       | 1   | 67        |
|  | Other           | 805      |      | 7   |                   | Other     | 4090  |                       | 10  |           |
| Conditions in                                      | Syria           | Afgha    | nis. | Ira | aq                | Pakistan  | Kosovo  | )*                    |     | lestine/- |
| origin country                                     | 2 000           |          | 22.6 |     | <u>(100 1</u>     | 1016      |   |                       | ian |           |
| GDP p.c. in current US \$ <sup>10</sup>            | 2,080.<br>(2007 |          | 33.6 |     | 6420.4            | 1316.6    | unavai  | unavailab. unavailab. |     | availab.  |
| Life expectan.,                                    | 7.              | 5        | 60   |     | 69                | 66        | 6 unavai                                      | unavailab. unavailab  |     | availab.  |
| in years <sup>11</sup> (2013)                      |                 |          |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| No. of refugees                                    | 0.17            | 6 0      | .084 |     | 0.012             | 0.002     | 2 0.0   | 025                   |     | 0.008     |
| generated p.c. <sup>12</sup>                       |                 |          |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| Human r. viol. <sup>13</sup>                       | 5.              | 0        | 4.7  |     | 5.0               | 4.7       | 7   | 2.0                   |     | 3.3       |
| (1=best, 5=worst)                                  |                 |          |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| Political rights <sup>14</sup>                     |                 | 7        | 6    |     | 6                 | 4         | unavai  | lab.                  | un  | availab.  |
| (1=best, 7=worst)                                  |                 |          |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| Civil liberties <sup>15</sup><br>(1=best, 7=worst) |                 | 7        | 6    |     | 6                 | 5         | 5 unavai                                      | lab.                  | un  | availab.  |
| Ethnic war <sup>16</sup>                           |                 | 4        | 0    |     | 4                 | 3         | 3   | 0                     |     | 2         |
| (0=best, 4=worst)                                  |                 |          |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| Revoluti. war <sup>17</sup>                        |                 | 0        | 3.5  |     | 0                 | 0         | )   | 0                     |     | 0         |
| (0=best, 4=worst)                                  |                 | _        |      |     |                   |           |   |                       |     |           |
| Genocide/Poli. <sup>18</sup>                       |                 | 0        | 0    |     | 1                 | (         | )   | 0                     |     | 0         |
| (0=best, 4=worst)                                  |                 | 0        | 0    |     | 0                 |           | <u> </u>                                      | 0                     |     | 0         |
| Adv. r. change <sup>19</sup>                       |                 | 0        | 0    |     | 0                 | 0         | )   | 0                     |     | 0         |
| (0=best, 4=worst)<br>Interstate war <sup>20</sup>  |                 | 0        | 0    |     | 0                 | (         | <u>,                                     </u> | 0                     |     | 0         |
| (0=best, 10=worst)                                 |                 |          | U    |     | 0                 |           | ,   | U                     |     | 0         |

\* Serbia and Kosovo (S/RES/1244 (1999)). Includes Montenegro until its independence in the absence of separate statistics available for both countries (UNHCR 2015a: 17)

<sup>8</sup> Eurostat 2015b: 8

<sup>12</sup> UNHCR 2015a: 49 ff.

<sup>14</sup> Freedom House 2015a: 21 ff.

<sup>16</sup> PITF 2014: Ethnic Wars; Magnitudes are evaluated on the basis of state capabilities, interactive intensity (means and goals), area and scope of death and destruction, population displacement, and episode duration

<sup>17</sup> ibid: Revolutionary Wars

<sup>18</sup> ibid: Genocide, Politicide

<sup>19</sup> ibid: Regime Changes

<sup>20</sup> Center for Systemic Peace 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> own calculations on the basis of Eurostat 2016b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> World Bank 2016a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> World Bank 2016b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Purdue Scale of Political Terror 2015: The Political Terror Scale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> ibid.

| <b>Annex 2: Characteristics</b> | s of the asy | lum population |
|---------------------------------|--------------|----------------|
|---------------------------------|--------------|----------------|

| 2014                           | Bulgaria  |           |          | Hungary  |              |              |      |  |
|--------------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|----------|--------------|--------------|------|--|
| Distribution of $0-13$         |           | 17.4      |          |          | 19.4         |              |      |  |
| age groups of                  | 14 - 17   |           |          | 12.8     |              | ſ            | 8.2  |  |
| applicants as a                | 18 - 34   |           | 82.2 ≺   | 56.2     |              | 80.3         | 56.6 |  |
| share of total (in             | 35 - 64   |           |          | 13.2     |              |              | 15.5 |  |
| %) <sup>21</sup>               | 65 +      |           |          | 0.4      |              |              | 0.2  |  |
| Applicants by sex              | Male      |           |          | 76.9     |              |              | 76.2 |  |
| $(in \%)^{22}$                 | Female    |           |          | 23.1     |              |              | 23.8 |  |
| Literacy rate in origin        |           | Syria: 86 | Pa       | akistan: | 57           | Afghanistan: | 32   |  |
| countries (in %) <sup>23</sup> |           | (2013)    | (2       | 012)     |              | (2011)       |      |  |
| Gross enrollment ra            | Syria: 31 | Pa        | akistan: | 10       | Afghanistan: | 4            |      |  |
| school in origin c. (          | (2013)    | (2        | 013)     |          | (2011)       |              |      |  |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Eurostat 2015b: 6
<sup>22</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016c
<sup>23</sup> World Bank 2016c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> World Bank 2016d

| 2014  |                               | Bulgaria | Hungary       |  |  |  |  |
|---|-------------------------------|----------|---------------|--|--|--|--|
| Asylum applications received by destination countries |                               |          |               |  |  |  |  |
| No. of applications 20                                | )14 <sup>25</sup>             | 11080    | 42775         |  |  |  |  |
| No. of applications p.                                | c. 2014 <sup>26</sup>         | 0.0015   | 0.0043        |  |  |  |  |
| No. of past   | 2008                          | 745      | 3175          |  |  |  |  |
| applications <sup>27</sup>                            | 2009                          | 855      | 4665          |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2010                          | 1025     | 2095          |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2011                          | 890      | 1690          |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2012                          | 1385     | 2155          |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2013                          | 7145     | 18895         |  |  |  |  |
|   | Ø 2008 – 2013                 | 2008     | 5446          |  |  |  |  |
|   | m.c. Ø $2008 - 2013^{28}$     | 274      | 547           |  |  |  |  |
|   | and recognized claims         |          |               |  |  |  |  |
| No. of recognized clai                                | ims 2008 - 2013 <sup>29</sup> | 3645     | 2165          |  |  |  |  |
| No. of recognized clai                                |                               | 0.0005   | 0.0002        |  |  |  |  |
| Past recognition                                      | 2008                          | 44       | 44            |  |  |  |  |
| rates (first instance)                                | 2009                          | 42       | 22            |  |  |  |  |
| in % <sup>31</sup>                                    | 2010                          | 27       | 25            |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2011                          | 31       | 17            |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2012                          | 27       | 32            |  |  |  |  |
|   | 2013                          | 87       | 8             |  |  |  |  |
|   | Ø 2008 – 2013                 | 43       | 25            |  |  |  |  |
|   | eighbouring countries         | 1        |               |  |  |  |  |
| Bulgaria  | %                             | Hungary  | %             |  |  |  |  |
| Romania   | 47                            | Romania  | 47            |  |  |  |  |
| Greece 15   |                               | Slovenia | 46            |  |  |  |  |
| Turkey  | probably high                 | Slovakia | 34            |  |  |  |  |
| Macedonia   | probably low                  | Croatia  | 11            |  |  |  |  |
| Serbia  | probably low                  | Austria  | probably high |  |  |  |  |
|   |                               | Serbia   | probably low  |  |  |  |  |
|   |                               | Ukraine  | probably low  |  |  |  |  |

## Annex 3: Destination countries' asylum burden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Eurostat 2016c

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016c; Eurostat 2016d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Eurostat 2016c
<sup>28</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016c; Eurostat 2016d
<sup>29</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016b; Eurostat 2016e
<sup>30</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016b; Eurostat 2016d; Eurostat 2016e
<sup>31</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016b; Eurostat 2016d; Eurostat 2016e

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016b

| 2014                                     |  | Bulgaria | Hungary |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|----------|---------|--|--|--|--|
| Social conditions                        |  |          |         |  |  |  |  |
| Population $(in m.)^{32}$                |  | 7.2      | 9.9     |  |  |  |  |
| Population density (people/kn            | $(n^2)^{33}$                                   | 67       | 109     |  |  |  |  |
| Share of foreign population (i           | $(n \%)^{34}$                                  | 0.8      | 1.4     |  |  |  |  |
| Change of share of foreign <sup>35</sup> | opulation since 2008 (in %)                    | +0.27    | -0.34   |  |  |  |  |
| Share of culturally dist. foreig         | ners among foreign pop. (in %) <sup>36</sup>   | 75       | 43      |  |  |  |  |
| Share of asylum seekers amor             |  | 35       | 21      |  |  |  |  |
| Share of Muslims among                   |  | 91       | 95      |  |  |  |  |
| asylum seekers (in %) <sup>38</sup>      | Among top applicant groups                     | 83       | 86      |  |  |  |  |
| Employment in working                    | Agriculture                                    | 7        | 5       |  |  |  |  |
| sector (as % of total                    | Industry                                       | 30       | 31      |  |  |  |  |
| employment) <sup>39</sup>                | Services                                       | 63       | 65      |  |  |  |  |
| Political conditions                     |  |          |         |  |  |  |  |
|  | parties in parliamentary elections             | 33       | 78      |  |  |  |  |
| (as share of seats, in %) <sup>40</sup>  |  |          |         |  |  |  |  |
| Government: far-right led mir            | nistries (in %) <sup>41</sup>                  | 60       | 77      |  |  |  |  |
| Economic conditions                      |  |          |         |  |  |  |  |
| GDP p.c. in $\notin^{42}$                |  | 5900     | 10553   |  |  |  |  |
| Unemployment (in %) <sup>43</sup>        |  | 11       | 8       |  |  |  |  |
| Financial contribution to                | as % of GDP <sup>44</sup>                      | 0.00002  | 0.00139 |  |  |  |  |
| UNHCR*                                   | p.c. in € <sup>45</sup>                        | 0.001    | 0.146   |  |  |  |  |
| Need for population                      | Population over 65 years (in %) <sup>46</sup>  | 1.4      | 1.3     |  |  |  |  |
| replacement                              | Fertility rate <sup>47</sup>                   | 1.48     | 1.35    |  |  |  |  |
|  | Labour force (in %) <sup><math>48</math></sup> | 46       | 44      |  |  |  |  |

## Annex 4: Social, political and economic conditions in destination countries

\* converted from US\$ to € by 2014 average exchange rate (http://www.oanda.com/lang/de/currency/average)

<sup>37</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016d; UNHCR 2015c; UNHCR 2015d; asylum seekers as accepted applicants and pending cases of applicants residing in the destination country

<sup>38</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2015b: 8; Central Intelligence Agency 2016; GIZ 2016

<sup>39</sup> World Bank 2016f; World Bank 2016g; World Bank 2016h

<sup>40</sup> Calculated on the basis of NABG 2014a; National Election Office 2014; Freedom House 2015b; Freedom House 2015c

<sup>41</sup> Calculated on the basis of Government of Bulgaria 2016; Government of Hungary 2016

<sup>42</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016a; Eurostat 2016d

<sup>43</sup> Eurostat 2016f

<sup>44</sup> Calculated on the basis of UNHCR 2015c; UNHCR 2015d; Eurostat 2016a;

<sup>45</sup> Calculated on the basis of UNHCR 2015c; UNHCR 2015d; Eurostat 2016d

<sup>46</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016g

<sup>47</sup> Eurostat 2016h

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Eurostat 2016d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> World Bank 2016e

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Calculated on the basis of Eurostat 2016d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> World Bank 2016i

| 2014                   |   | Bulgaria | Hungary |
|------------------------|---|----------|---------|
| Recognition rate fina  | al decisions on appeal (in %) <sup>49</sup> | 86       | 5       |
| No. of accepted        | 2012  | 7        | 111     |
| take-back              | 2013  | 14       | 167     |
| requests <sup>50</sup> | 2014  | 3        | 235     |
| No. of pending         | Beginning of 2014                           | 5885     | 1970    |
| cases <sup>51</sup>    | End of 2014                                 | 6750     | 15685   |
|                        | Change Dec. 2013 – Dec. 2014 (in %)         | + 19     | + 732   |

# Annex 5: Legal and administrative considerations

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Eurostat 2015a: 4
 <sup>50</sup> Eurostat 2015c
 <sup>51</sup> Eurostat 2016i